No. S199074 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

HAROLD ROSE, et al.

Plaintiffs and Appellants

MAY 15 2012

VS.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

Defendant and Respondent.

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B230859. On Appeal From The Superior Court For Los Angeles County, Case No. BC 433460, The Honorable Jane L. Johnson

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PLAINTIFFS AND APPELLANTS HAROLD ROSE, ET AL.

Unfair Competition Law Case (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209)

THE ROSSBACHER FIRM

HENRY H. ROSSBACHER (060260) JEFFREY ALAN GOLDENBERG (168990) 811 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1650 Los Angeles, CA 90017-2666

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Can a cause of action under the Unfair Competition Law (UCL) (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq.) be predicated on an alleged violation of the Truth in Savings Act (TISA) (12 U.S.C. § 4301 et seq.) despite Congress's repeal of the private right of action initially provided for under that Act?

II. INTRODUCTION

In 2009, without proper or timely notification, respondent Bank of America (the Bank) charged Harold C. Rose \$3.00 to have checks enclosed with his bank statement, charged Kimberly Lane an extra \$3.00 on her monthly fee, and similarly hiked the fees of other Bank customers throughout California (collectively, the Customers).

The Customers brought a class action suit against the Bank for violation of California's Unfair Competition Law (UCL) and "borrowed" the rules of the federal Truth in Savings Act (TISA) to show that the bank had committed an "unlawful" and an "unfair" business practice. The Bank says this suit is prohibited because TISA preempts it. The Court of Appeal below agrees because Congress repealed a section of the law that created a federal private remedy. The Customers contend that TISA's preemption clause explicitly saves State enforcement of its consistent State laws and permits causes of action under the UCL.

The Customers come before this Court, not to discuss the federal provision Congress repealed, but to discuss what Congress retained: a section of TISA which plainly says its "effect on state laws" is only to "supersede" those state laws which are inconsistent with TISA. Congress recently reenacted the section to vest power in the newly-created Consumer Finance Protection Bureau (the Consumer Bureau) which may decide whether or not a state law is consistent with TISA.

This is a case, then, which has been centered around the wrong section, or lack thereof, of TISA. It is not a case about whether California courts may hear a federal TISA action brought by customers. It is a case about whether California courts may hear a California Unfair Competition Law suit that borrows TISA's banking rules. In the former, the repealed section may have a role to play. In the latter, the important section of TISA is the one that deals directly with state laws, the one that permits consistent lawsuits, the one that is written in clear ordinary language, and the one we shall refer to as the Preemption Clause.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Around April of 2009, the Bank enclosed a brochure about "upcoming pricing changes to some deposit accounts" along with plaintiff Harold C. Rose's bank statement. Complaint ¶ 22. Neither the bank statement nor the

¹The Complaint may be found in the Vol. 1 of the Appellants' Appendix, 1 AA 1-13.

enclosure gave any specific information about which, if any, new fees were to apply to Mr. Rose' account. *Id.* Nor was there any mention in the documents of the date when charges for any such changes would be added. *Id.* In the same way, the Bank did not personally notify plaintiff Kimberly Lane, nor the rest of the Customers, about any new or changed account charges or when such charges would apply. *Id.*

Around June of 2009, the bank sent statements to Mr. Rose, Ms. Lane, and the rest of the Customers. Mr. Rose was charged a new fee of \$3.00 for enclosed checks. Compl. ¶ 24. Ms. Lane's monthly service charge went up \$3.00. Complaint ¶ 26. The rest of the Customers had the same type of fee hikes. *Id*.

The Customers brought suit on March 9, 2010, based on the Bank's failure to properly or timely notify them of their newly increased fees under California's Unfair Competition Law (UCL), Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. See First Cause of Action, Compl. ¶¶ 27-34. The Customers claimed the Bank's insufficient and untimely account fee increase notices were "unlawful" under the federal Truth in Savings Act, 12 U.S.C. § 4301 et seq. and its implementing regulations 12 C.F.R. § 230 et seq. Complaint ¶ 29. In addition, the Customers claimed the Bank's notification process, or lack there of, was "unfair" under the UCL. Complaint ¶ 30. The Customers sought restitution of the improperly deducted fees, with interest, and an

injunction to keep the Bank from continuing its illegal notification policies.

Prayer for Relief, Complaint at 1 AA 12.

The Bank demurred and the Superior Court sustained on the ground that the 1996 repeal of TISA's private right of action, the former 12 U.S.C. § 4310, was an "absolute bar to relief." 2 AA 360. The Customers argued that their claims were not preempted. The Superior Court granted the Customers leave to amend, but they did not do so. The case was dismissed and judgment rendered for the Bank.

The Customers appealed. They argued that their claims were not preempted. The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of the trial court. The Court of Appeal found that no state claims were possible due to the absence of a federal private right of action and the repeal of the federal right. *Rose v. Bank of America*, 200 Cal. App. 4th 1441 (2011). The Court of Appeal denied rehearing.

The Customers petitioned this Court for review and it was granted.

IV. ARGUMENT

For over forty years, federal bank disclosure regulations have been enforceable under consistent state laws. In both the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), passed in 1968, and its extension, the Truth in Savings Act (TISA), passed in 1991, Congress enacted a so-called "preemption" or "savings" clause which explicitly provided, in ordinary language, that the federal bank regulatory scheme would not supersede state laws so long as those

laws were consistent with federal regulation. In addition, Congress gave power to the Federal Reserve Board, now granted to the Consumer Finance Protection Bureau, to make determinations as to whether or not a state law was consistent with the federal law.

Both the United States and California Supreme Courts, in numerous decisions, have held that such a clause evidencing Congress' intent to preserve the role of state courts must be given the highest degree of deference. There is, the cases say, a "strong presumption against displacement of state law." Neither legislative history nor a balance of federal and state interests may be part of the analysis. All doubts where there are "equally plausible" interpretations of the clause must be resolved in favor of the "reading that disfavors pre-emption". And the proponent of preemption bears the burden of "demonstrating a 'clear and manifest' congressional intent to preempt."

The decision of the Court of Appeal below did not address TISA's Preemption Clause which has been in the statute since its inception, and was reenacted in 2010. Instead, the court looked backward to 1996, when

²Brown v Mortensen, 51 Cal. 4th 1052, 1064 (2011) (citing Farm Raised Salmon Cases, 42 Cal. 4th 1077, 1088 (2008)).

³Chamber of Commerce v. Whiting, 131 S. Ct. 1968, 1980, 1983 (2011).

⁴Brown at 1064 (citing Bates v. Dow Agrosciences LLC, 544 U.S. 431, 449 (2005)).

⁵*Id.* at 1065 (citing *Bronco Wine Co. v Jolly*, 33 Cal. 4th 943, 956-57 (2004)).

Congress, as part of a huge omnibus bill,⁶ repealed a part of TISA, Section 4310,⁷ that provided a complex bank liability scheme that set damages for federal individual and class action suits, provided banks a defenses for *bona fide* errors and good faith reliance on regulatory interpretations, allowed banks a 60 day adjustment period, addressed continuing bank failures to disclose, and gave jurisdiction, subject to a one-year statute of limitations, to United States District Courts and "any other court of competent jurisdiction."

The court below, assuming that Section 4310 provided the sole non-administrative, individual right of action for TISA, interpreted its repeal as proof that Congress intended to deprive states of all rights to bring an action under consistent state law. This interpretation makes no sense in light of Congress' enactment, and reenactment, of the explicit language of Section 4312. One must ask what would be the Consumer Bureau's role in making state law consistency calls if, as a result of the repeal of Section 4310, there were no longer any state suits? And even if this Court were to deem the Bank's repeal argument to be plausible, when compared to the Customers' interpretation that Congress kept and reenacted Section 4312 because it wanted to keep consistent state enforcement of TISA, it would

⁶The Economic Growth and Regulatory Paperwork Reduction Act of 1996, contained in the Omnibus Consolidated Appropriations Act, Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009.

⁷The full text of former 12 U.S.C. § 4310, now repealed, may be found at 2 AA 217-221.

have to resolve the conflict toward the one that does not preempt state law in a traditional area of state interest.

A. The Truth in Savings Act was modeled on the Truth in Lending Act.

The Truth in Savings Act (TISA), Pub. L. 102-242, Subtitle F, 105 Stat. 2334 (1991), was signed into law by President George Herbert Walker Bush on December 29, 1991. The Federal Reserve Board published regulations, know as Regulation DD, later the next year.

Three decades of consumer credit law preceded TISA. 2 Barkley & Barbara Clark, *The Law of Bank Deposits, Collections and Credit Cards* 19-8 (Rev. ed. 2011). As early as 1963, Professor Richard Morse of Kansas State University, appeared with others before Congress to discuss the truth in savings concept. *Id.* Although no truth in savings law was enacted at that time, by 1968, Congress had enacted the Truth in Lending Act (TILA) as Title I of the Consumer Credit Protection Act, Pub. L. 90-321, 82 Stat. 146 (1968), in many ways the legislative father of TISA.

TISA was written by California's Rep. Richard Lehman, introduced in 1984, passed the House in 1986, was shelved and then revived in 1987. Clark & Clark at 19-9. Consumers who appeared before Congress complained about a specific method banks were using to calculate interest which they likened to a "butcher's thumb on the scale." *Id.* A few years later, after a shuttlecock of bank regulation volleyed between House and

Senate, the truth in saving law we now know as TISA passed as Subtitle F of the FDIC Improvement Act of 1991, Pub. L. 102-242, 105 Stat. 2334. See Clark & Clark at 19-9.

At heart, TISA is a disclosure law. Clark & Clark at 19-12. Its purpose, "is to encourage comparative shopping for deposit products." ** Id. Some of the items a bank must disclose to consumers are the interest rates it gives for various types of accounts as well as pertinent information about compounding, credit, balances, withdrawal and, relevant for our purposes here, service fees. Id. TISA requires a bank to inform a customer not only of the fees, inter alia, that apply to a deposit account but also of a "change in terms". Id. As a general rule, these notices must be sent 30 days in advance to account holders whenever ... a service fee is increased.

⁸Congress set forth the consumer-oriented comparison shopping goal of TISA in Section 262 of the FDIC Act, codified at 12 U.S.C. § 4301, entitled "Findings and purpose":

⁽a) Findings. The Congress hereby finds that economic stability would be enhanced, competition between depository institutions would be improved, and the ability of the consumer to make informed decisions regarding deposit accounts, and to verify accounts, would be strengthened if there was uniformity in the disclosure of terms and conditions on which interest is paid and fees are assessed in connection with such accounts.

⁽b) Purpose. It is the purpose of this subtitle to require the clear and uniform disclosure of - (1) the rates of interest which are payable on deposit accounts by depository institutions; and (2) the fees that are assessable against deposit accounts, so that consumers can make a meaningful comparison between the competing claims of depository institutions with regard to deposit accounts. (Emphasis added.)

While TISA contains stiff penalties for noncompliance, the "good news" for banks, according to the seemingly bank-oriented Clarks, is that it also gives a number of defenses including good faith errors and reliance on Regulation DD and Federal Reserve Board interpretations of the same.

9 Id at 19-13. "All of this enforcement machinery is closely modeled after TILA," which has successfully been running, as noted above, since 1968.

A significant aspect of TILA's success has been state enforcement actions brought by bank customers. These actions include suits brought by Californians under the Unfair Competition Law (UCL) to enforce TILA's requirements as incorporated into California state law by the UCL. These are effective in enforcing TILA because the law is well settled that TILA does not preempt the enforcement of TILA's standards through the UCL and other state consumer protection statutes. *Black v. Fin. Freedom Senior Funding Corp.*, 92 Cal. App. 4th 917, 936-938 (2001). The TILA cases are in accord with the First Circuit's decision in *Barnes v. Fleet Nat'l Bank*, 370 F.3d 164, 175-76 (1st Cir. 2004) and the California Court of Appeal's decision in *Smith v. Wells Fargo Bank*, N.A., 153 Cal. App. 4th 1463, 1475-1483 (2006) upholding private state law enforcement of TISA standards

⁹These interpretations are now the responsibility of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (consumer Bureau). Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. 111-203 § 1100B, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).

through suits under state consumer protection laws including, in *Smith*, the UCL.

One of the important regulations for the present case was, in fact, modeled upon TILA and its implementing Regulation Z. Clark & Clark at 19-129. Under TILA, then, a consumer must be given 15 days advance notice of changes to the terms of a specific account that *could be adverse to the consumer*. 12 C.F.R. 226.9(c)(1)-(2). Similarly, under TISA and Regulation DD, a consumer who may be harmed by a fee increase must be given 30 days advance notice of changes to any fees which were required in the initial account schedule. Some fee changes may benefit the consumer so, looking at the phrase "may ... adversely affect", the Clarks interpret Regulation DD to require advance notice "if there is *any possibility* that the change could have a negative impact on the consumer. Clark & Clark at 19-133 (emphasis added).

B. TILA and TISA's Similar Enforcement Schemes

With respect to enforcing the statute, TILA gave an individual or class plaintiff the right to bring suit as a "private attorney general." Clark &

¹⁰12 U.S.C. § 4305(c) provides: Distribution of notice of certain changes. If – (1) any change is made in any term or condition which is required to be disclosed in the schedule required under section 264(a) [12 U.S.C. § 4303(a)] with respect to any account; and (2) the change may ... adversely affect any holder of the account, all account holders who may be affected by such change shall be notified and provided with a description of the change by mail at least 30 days before the change takes effect. (Emphasis added.)

Clark at 19-150. This led to a boom in Truth in Lending litigation during the 1970s, primarily over technical violations, which suddenly decreased around 1980 due to several amendments to TILA which (1) limited the number of violations subject to penalties, (2) expanded bank defenses such as good faith errors, and (3) placed a ceiling on class action damages. *Id.* Around the same time, the Federal Reserve developed an official commentary on TILA to avoid the problem that had been created by inconsistent official and unofficial interpretations. *Id.* In addition, the United States Supreme Court made sure courts would strictly defer to agency interpretations. See *Ford Motor Credit Co. v Milhollin*, 444 U.S. 555(1980).

When TISA was enacted, over two decades after the TILA boom, it followed the former statutes' amended scheme. The new law paralleled TILA's preemption provisions, empowering state enforcement of consistent disclosure requirements.

In 1995 Congress amended TISA and eliminated the federal private right of action, reducing federal enforcement to an "administrative remedial enforcement scheme". Congress enacted the repeal of TISA's federal private enforcement provision, 12 U.S.C. § 4310, which was scheduled to

¹¹Senate Report 104-185, Report of the Committee on Banking, Housing & Urban Affairs, (Dec 14, 1995).

be dropped from the law in September 2001. Act of Sept 30, 1996, Pub L 104-208, § 2604(a), codified at 12 U.S.C. § 4310.

Congress, however, did not disturb the parallel authority of the states to enforce consistent state requirements.

What remained in the statute after the repeal, was state enforcement under TISA's Preemption Clause and Regulation, 12 U.S.C. § 4312 and 12 C.F.R. 230.1(d). These preserve parallel state enforcement of TISA's provisions. In fact, the Federal Reserve Board has determined that at least one state's enforcement of its more demanding requirements was not inconsistent with TISA under the Preemption Clause. 12

The issue at hand is whether, under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, TISA preempts California's statutes creating causes of action enforcing identical requirements to TISA's. Also before this Court is the issue of whether TISA preempts all California enforcement of its dictates. These laws will be referred to in this brief as the "Preemption Clause", the "Preemption Regulation", or lumped together as the "Preemption Clauses".

C. The Preemption Clauses and Strict Judicial Deference to the Ordinary Language

Like TILA before it, Congress inserted the Preemption Clause, 12 U.S.C. § 4312, into TISA to ensure parallel enforcement by the states. The

¹²See Kenneth M. Lapine, 7 Banking Law § 151-7[1] at 151-86.

language of the statute is clear and neatly tracks the language used earlier in TILA¹³:

§ 4312. Effect on State law

The provisions of [TISA] do not supersede any provisions of the law of any State relating to the disclosure of yields payable or terms for accounts to the extent such State law requires the disclosure of such yields or terms for accounts, except to the extent that those laws are inconsistent with the provisions [TISA], and then only to the extent of the inconsistency. The Bureau may determine whether such inconsistencies exist. (Emphasis added.)

Under the ordinary language of this Preemption Clause, Congress contemplated that States may enforce banking disclosure laws consistent with TISA and explicitly decreed that such laws will *not* be superseded — that is to say, state administrative and civil cases will be allowed to go forward and not be preempted by the act. To understand that the continued existence of the Preemption Clause after the repeal of Section 4310 was by design and not an accident, it is important to note that as recently as 2010 Congress amended the Preemption Clause to change the word "Board" to "Bureau" so that determinations of state law inconsistencies would

¹³Enacted in 1968, TILA's preemption clause, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 1610, is entitled "Effect on other laws" and provides, in relation to credit transaction information disclosures, TILA does not "annul, alter, or affect ... the laws of any State ... except to the extent that those laws are inconsistent" with TILA "and then only to the extent of the inconsistency." The statute, as recently amended, also provides for the Consumer Bureau to make inconsistency determinations. TILA, as copied by TISA, also has a state preemption regulation, codified at 12 C.F.R. § 226.28.

thereafter be made by the Consumer Bureau, the recently created agency that is now responsible for administrative enforcement of TISA.¹⁴

Logically, Congress could not have shifted power from the Federal Reserve Board to the Consumer Bureau to make determinations of inconsistent state laws in 2010¹⁵ had enforcement of all such laws been preempted by Congress' repeal of Section 4310 back in 1996.

D. The United States Supreme Court Strictly Defers to the Ordinary Language in Preemption Clauses

When there is a preemption clause in a law enacted by Congress, the United States Supreme Court has held consistently that the "ordinary language" of the clause takes precedence over any other tool of interpretation, such as looking to the legislative history or balancing federal and state interests.

1. Whiting and the Authority of Statutory Text.

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