COPY

No. S199074

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

HAROLD ROSE AND KIMBERLY LANE,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 17 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B230859

On Appeal From A Judgment Of Dismissal
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC433460
Honorable Jane L. Johnson

Service On The Los Angeles District Attorney And The
California Attorney General Required By
Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 And Cal. R. Ct. 8.29(b)

Margaret M. Grignon (SBN 76621)

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

enforcement scheme—something that Congress concluded was preferable to private enforcement.

4. The Court Of Appeal’s Decision Applied Established Law To Affirm The Dismissal Of Plaintiffs’ UCL Claim Based Exclusively On TISA

A straightforward application of California and federal law regarding the private enforcement of statutes, generally, and indirect enforcement of a statute via a UCL claim, specifically, fully supports the Court of Appeal’s decision here. As explained above, this Court’s opinions recognize that where the enacting legislative body has expressed an intent to bar private enforcement of a statute, a UCL claim may not be based on alleged violations of that statute. Federal law, likewise, forbids indirect enforcement of a statute where Congress has expressed its intention to bar private enforcement of the statute.

The foundational policy underlying California and federal law on this question is the same—the enacting legislative body’s intent to bar private enforcement of a statute cannot be circumvented under the guise of indirect private enforcement. The Court of Appeal applied this settled law and policy and afforded the required deference to Congress’s decisions when it affirmed the dismissal of Plaintiffs’ complaint, which sought to privately enforce TISA in the face of Congress’s express decision to bar private enforcement.

The Court of Appeal began its analysis by invoking the well-established principle—reflected in this Court’s decisions in *Rubin*, *Manufacturers Life*, *Cel-Tech*, *Stop Youth Addiction*, and *Farm Raised Salmon*—that a UCL claim may not be predicated on a statute whose private enforcement has been foreclosed by the legislative body that enacted the statute. (*Rose, supra*, 200 Cal.4th at p. 1448 [“When a legislative body expresses its intent to prohibit enforcement of a law through a private action, a plaintiff may not plead around an absolute bar to relief simply by recasting the cause of action as one for unfair competition.”] [citations and internal quotation marks omitted].) Accordingly, because California UCL jurisprudence requires an examination of whether the enacting legislative body has expressed an intention to foreclose private enforcement of the statute borrowed as the basis of a UCL claim, the Court of Appeal went on to consider what Congress had to say about private enforcement of TISA.

When ascertaining Congress’s intent regarding private enforcement of TISA, the Court of Appeal looked to federal law. (*Rose, supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at p. 1451 [“private rights of action to enforce federal law must be created by Congress [and so] [t]he judicial task is to interpret the statute Congress has passed to determine whether it displays an intent to create not just a private right but also a private remedy”] [quoting and citing *Alexander, supra*, 532 U.S. at pp. 286-287].) That was the proper approach because: (1) this Court’s UCL precedents expressly direct court’s to determine the enacting legislative body’s intent regarding private

enforcement (see, *supra*, at pp. 11-18); and (2) it is a well-settled principle of California law that courts should look to federal authorities when ascertaining Congress's intent. (See *Karuk Tribe of Northern California v. California Regional Water Quality Control Bd., North Coast Region* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 330, 352 ["we are bound by decisions of the United States Supreme Court in the construction and application of federal law"]; *RCJ Medical Services, Inc. v. Bonta* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 986, 1006 ["Because we are considering a federal statute, we follow rules of statutory construction enunciated by the United States Supreme Court."].) Indeed, the Supremacy Clause requires this deference to federal law and Congress's intent regarding private enforcement of TISA. (U.S. Const., art. VI, cl. 2.)

Applying well-settled principles of statutory interpretation, the Court of Appeal concluded that Congress had indicated its intent to prohibit private enforcement of TISA "when it enacted a sunset clause that expressly repealed the statute allowing individuals to enforce TISA [and] reconfirmed that intent when, in 2001, it rebuffed legislation to reinstate civil liability suits against noncompliant banks." (*Rose, supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at p. 1451.) This clearly indicated a congressional intent not to permit private

enforcement of TISA—either direct or indirect. (See *Rose, supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1451-1452.)¹⁴

Looking at the governing federal law, the Court of Appeal noted that Congress’s “repeal of [the civil liability provision of TISA] ‘entirely eliminated the . . . cause of action [under section 4310], thereby releasing banks from future claims of private parties” and that, after September 2001, the only remedy available under TISA and Regulation DD is administrative enforcement as set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 4309. (*Rose, supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at p. 1447, quoting *Schnall v. Amboy Nat. Bank* (3rd Cir. 2002) 279 F.3d 205, 209, fn. 2 [“private parties may no longer sue for violations of TISA”].)

Given this, the Court of Appeal held that because Congress has unquestionably barred private enforcement of TISA, California and federal law preclude TISA from serving as a predicate for a UCL claim because such a suit would constitute an

¹⁴ Indeed, federal courts have rejected efforts to base UCL claims on federal statutes whose private enforcement has been foreclosed by Congress. (*Hartless v. Clorox Co.* (S.D. Cal., Nov. 2, 2007, No. 06CV2705) 2007 WL 3245260, *3-4 [citing, e.g., *Stop Youth Addiction* and *Cel-Tech* and holding that plaintiff could not maintain UCL claim based on FIFRA because Congress had considered and rejected private actions to enforce FIFRA]; *Banga v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (E.D. Cal., Mar. 31, 2010, No. 5-08-1518) 2010 WL 1267841, *3 [“violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681m [of Fair Credit Reporting Act] cannot serve as the predicate for a UCL claim” because that section contains “a bar to private suit”].)

“end run” around the limits Congress set on who may enforce TISA, as well as the reasons for those limits. (*Rose, supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at p. 1451 [“Allowing private plaintiffs to recover on a UCL claim based solely on TISA violations would constitute an ‘end run’ around the limits on enforcement set by Congress.”].)

For all of these reasons, the Court of Appeal’s decision aligns with this Court’s reasoning in *Stop Youth Addiction*. The Court of Appeal came to a different conclusion on the viability of Plaintiffs’ UCL cause of action here than the one this Court reached regarding the UCL cause of action asserted in *Stop Youth Addiction*, but not because the Court of Appeal departed from this Court’s precedents or applied a different view of the law. Rather, this case involved circumstances that are far different from those in *Stop Youth Addiction*. That case involved a UCL cause of action based on alleged violations of section 308 of the California Penal Code and the Stop Tobacco Access to Kids Enforcement (“STAKE”) Act (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 22950 et seq.)—statutes that are silent on private enforcement. (*Stop Youth Addiction, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at p. 553.) By contrast, this case involves a UCL cause of action based on alleged violations of TISA where Congress has expressed its intention to prohibit private enforcement of TISA.

In *Stop Youth Addiction*, the defendant argued that by asserting a UCL cause of action based on Penal Code section 308 and the STAKE Act, the plaintiff was trying to “circumvent the absence of a private right of action under Penal Code [section] 308”

and the STAKE Act. (*Stop Youth Addiction, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at p. 566.) This Court disagreed, reasoning that where a statute does not contain a private right of action, but there is no indication that the Legislature intended to bar its private enforcement, is different than where the Legislature has expressly barred private enforcement. (*Id.* at p. 565.)¹⁵ Moreover, as this Court noted, although the language of the Penal Code says nothing about private enforcement, the Legislature had not been silent on the issue: the legislative history of the UCL indicated that the Legislature intended to make the UCL available for private enforcement of Penal Code provisions. (*Id.* at p. 567.)¹⁶ Thus, the absence of any evidence of a legislative intent to bar private enforcement actions under section 308 and the STAKE Act, together with the evidence of a legislative intent to allow use of the UCL to enforce penal laws, led this Court to hold in *Stop Youth Addiction* that the two statutes could serve as predicates for a UCL unlawful claim.

As explained, the opposite is true here: Congress has clearly spoken and expressed its intent to foreclose private

¹⁵ At the same time, this Court reaffirmed the rule stated in its earlier decisions that a legislative body's bar on private enforcement of a statute makes the statute unavailable to serve as a predicate for a UCL claim. (*Stop Youth Addiction, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at pp. 562-564.)

¹⁶ It was for this reason that Court had no trouble rejecting the defendant's argument that the Penal Code's comprehensive remedial scheme provided the exclusive means for enforcing the Code's provision. (*Stop Youth Addiction, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at p. 567.)

enforcement of TISA. And, Bank of America does not argue that the absence of a private right of action in TISA forecloses a UCL action; nor is the Court of Appeal's decision based on such a conclusion. To the contrary, the Court of Appeal's analysis began by acknowledging that a UCL cause of action may be based on alleged violations of a statute that does not contain a private right of action—and the absence of a private of action in TISA's statutory text was not the reason the Court of Appeal found that Plaintiffs' UCL cause of action was barred. The Court of Appeal's decision instead was based on Congress's *express* foreclosure of private enforcement of TISA, which the Court of Appeal correctly held could not be circumvented by indirect enforcement through a UCL cause of action based exclusively on alleged violations of TISA.

There is no reason to depart from either the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Plaintiffs may not maintain a UCL claim based exclusively on alleged violations of TISA or the reasoning used to reach that decision. Sound policy and foundational legal principles requiring deference to the intent of legislative bodies are the cornerstones of the California and federal decisions relied upon by the Court of Appeal. Here, Congress has clearly stated that there shall be no private enforcement of TISA—and it made the decision to foreclose private enforcement in order to alleviate burdens on federal agencies. Because a UCL cause of action enforces the predicate statute, a UCL unlawful prong claim based on TISA would impose the exact same burdens on the federal regulatory agencies as a direct action under TISA.

In the end, when the enacting legislative body has barred private enforcement of a statute, allowing a party to use the UCL to sue for the same conduct covered by that statute would circumvent the legislative body's intent. Neither California law nor federal law countenances that result. By attempting to use the UCL to sue for violations of TISA's specific, technical requirements, Plaintiffs attempted a classic end run around Congress's prohibition of private enforcement of TISA. The Court of Appeal properly blocked that end run.

B. Plaintiffs May Not Circumvent Congress's Bar Of Private TISA Actions By Relying On Allegations That The Bank's Purported TISA Violations Were "Unfair"

Plaintiffs' claim under the unfair prong of the UCL, like their claim under the unlawful prong, is based explicitly and solely on Bank of America's purported violations of TISA. Indeed, in support of their contention that the Bank's conduct was "unfair," Plaintiffs' complaint does not contain a single factual allegation unrelated to the specific, technical TISA and Regulation DD notice requirements. And, Plaintiffs' arguments on this appeal are based only on their contention that Congress's bar on private enforcement of TISA does not bar their UCL claim. For the reasons discussed above, the Court of Appeal correctly rejected Plaintiffs' argument in this regard. Like their unlawful prong allegations, Plaintiffs' unfair prong allegations seek to enforce TISA—and thus Congress's bar on

private enforcement of TISA applies with equal force to foreclose Plaintiff's claim under the UCL's unfair prong.¹⁷

C. TISA's Savings Clause And Plaintiffs' Preemption Argument Do Not Override Congress's Specific Intent To Bar Private Enforcement Of TISA

Plaintiffs' brief does not even mention—let alone address—the California and federal authorities discussed above, which show why the Court of Appeal was correct to conclude that approval of Plaintiffs' UCL claim would amount to an impermissible end run around Congress's expressed intention to bar private enforcement of TISA. Nor do Plaintiffs argue that the Court of Appeal misconstrued or wrongly applied these authorities (which it did not). Instead, Plaintiffs try to change the question at issue to a federal preemption analysis. This approach is flawed in multiple respects and provides no reason to reverse the Court of Appeal's decision in this case or to more generally alter the California law that affords the required deference to legislative bodies when

¹⁷ The Court of Appeal also explained why Plaintiffs' complaint did not allege "immoral, unethical, or oppressive" conduct and why its allegations did not allege a substantial consumer injury that could not have been reasonably avoided. Plaintiffs' brief does not take issue with these conclusions and thus any arguments in this regard have been abandoned. (See 9 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (4th ed. 1997) Appeal, § 616, pp. 647-648 ["Ordinarily, contentions not raised in appellant's opening brief are deemed waived."]; *Padilla v. Rodas* (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 742, 753, fn. 2 ["An appellant abandons an issue by failing to raise it in the opening brief."].)

evaluating the legal viability of UCL claims based on borrowed statutes.

To begin, the preemption discussion that is the sole focus of Plaintiffs' brief is not relevant to the question at hand. Application of TISA's savings clause means only that TISA leaves California free to adopt its own laws that are similar or even identical to TISA. While, under a preemption analysis, a state could include a private right of action in a TISA-like state statutory scheme even if Congress did not include a private right of action in the federal scheme, California has no TISA-like statute. Thus, unlike in *Farm Raised Salmon*, the question here is not whether a federal statute preempts a private right of action contained in a state statute paralleling the federal statute such that the state statute may not be used as the basis for a UCL claim. Instead, the question is whether the UCL unlawful prong may be used indirectly to enforce TISA itself.

The gist of Plaintiffs' argument is that by affirming the dismissal of their UCL claim, the Court of Appeal effectively concluded that TISA preempted the UCL. (See, e.g., OBOM 6 [asserting that Court of Appeal "interpreted [the] repeal [of TISA's private right of action] as proof that Congress intended to deprive states of all rights to bring an action under consistent state statutes"]; see also OBOM 1 ["The Bank says this suit is prohibited because TISA preempts it."].) That is not true. The Court of Appeal's decision is not based on preemption. In fact, the opinion does not

discuss preemption at all. Nothing in the Court of Appeal’s opinion even suggests that California could not enact a TISA-like statute (and even include a private right of action in that state statute), which also could be indirectly enforced by the UCL. Instead, as explained, the Court of Appeal held that Plaintiffs’ UCL claim is barred under California law because their UCL claim is predicated on a statute whose private enforcement is foreclosed. This holding rests on longstanding California case law regarding the requisites for maintaining a claim under the UCL and on the federal law governing private enforcement of federal statutes. In short, it has nothing to do with federal preemption.¹⁸

Nor does the Court of Appeal’s decision implicate TISA’s savings clause, much less contravene its scope or efficacy. There is no conflict between the legal principles that control the enforcement of a federal statute’s savings clause—allowing California (or any other state) to enact laws consistent with the federal statutory scheme—on the one hand, and the legal principles that prohibit indirect private enforcement of a statute through a UCL claim where a legislative body has expressed an intention to bar

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